ARBITRATION INSTITUTE OF THE STOCKHOLM CHAMBER OF COMMERCE
P.O. Box 16050, SE-103 21 Stockholm, Sweden.
phone + 46-8-555 100 50, fax +46-8-566 316 56

FINAL AWARD

rendered in Stockholm on 11" June 2007

Case no: 156/2003

Claimant: Globe Nuclear Services and Supply GNSS,
Limited
3 Bethesda Metro Center, Suite 910
Bethesda MD 20814
USA

Claimant’s counsel: Iy Professor Kaj Hobér
Mr, Jakob Ragnwaldh
Mannheimer Swartling Advokatbyrd
Norrmalmstorg 4
SE-111 87 Stockholm
Sweden

2) Mr. Andrew K., Fletcher
Pepper Hamilton LLP
50™ floor
364 Grand Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15219-2502
USA

Respondent: AQ Techsnabexport
Straromonetnyi per, 26
109180 Moscow
Russia




Respondent’s counsel; 1} Mr. Sigvard Jarvin
Mr. Carroll §. Dorgan
Jones Day
120, rue du Faubourg Saint-Honoré
75008 Paris
France

2) Mr. Timur D. Aitkulov
Mr. Ivan N. Marisin
Clifford Chance CIS Limited
ui. Gasheka 6
125047 Moscow
Russia

Arbitral Tribunal: Justitieradet Gustaf Moller
Advokat Karl-Ertk Danielsson
Professor Sergei N. Lebedev



TABLE OFCONTENTS

FINITOGUCLION 1ovvviiii e 4
2 Tenex's Position as to GNSS’s standing in this arbitration and as to the vahidity of the
CONMIALT Lt e 6
2.1 Tenex’s Prayers for Relefl ... 6
2.2 GFOUIIS vt 6
3 GNSES POSILION .ot ettt 12
3.0 Fenex’s standing argument fails ... 12
3.2 The Tribunal Lacks Jurisdiction over Criminal Matters ..o I3
3.3 The GNSS-Tenex Contract is Vaiid OSSPSR TORPTURRPRRRU B
FREASONS e 16
FUAIDHTADIILY e 16
+.2 GNSS standing in this arbitration ............cccooevvveeor oo 16
4.3 The Tribunal’s Jurisdiction and Criminal Matters ....o..oooovoooooo 17
4.4 Invalidity or unenforceability of the GNSS-Tenex Contract as a matter of Swedish law 17
A AL IAPOUUCHION (e oo 17
4.4.2 Invalidity pursuant to Section 30 of the Swedish Contracts Act (fraudulent
UECEPIION) vt 18
4.4 3 Invalidity pursuant to Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts At 19
4.4.3.1 The ownership and control of GNSS and TKST ..o 21
4.4.3.2 The Acquisition by TKST of 49% of the shares in GNSS and Adamov’s
appointment as Minister of Minatom ..........oo.ooooovooeooooo 23
4.4.3.3 Release and discharge of GNSS debt 10 TenexX.....oovvooovoooooooo 30
4.4.3.4 Conclusion of the GNSS-Tenex Contract ......ooovoooooooo 30
4.4.3.5 The Circumstances in which the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded ... 35
4.4.3.6 The Tribunal’s concluSions ...........cocoovoee oo 37
3 LOSTS i 39

SAWARD



1 Introduction
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On 31" August 2006, this Tribunal rendered a Partial Award on Liability Issues.
This was pursuant to a Procedural Order dated !1™ November 2005, whereby the
arbitration was bifurcated with separate pleadings and hearings on the issues of
quantum to take place following the Partial Award on liability issues and subject to
its findings and determinations. Pursuant to the same Procedural Order the Tribunal
was later to decide whether and, if so, to what extent new evidence, which might
come up in the then ongoing criminal investigations in Russia and the United States
of America, would be allowed. If the Tribunal were to decide that such new evi-
dence should be allowed. an oral hearing on the valic ity of Contragt
08843672/1002-051D between GNSS and Tenex (“the GNSS-Tenex Coniract™)
was provided for in the same Procedural Order (See §125 of the Partial Award).
This Final Award presupposes a detailed knowledge of the Partial Award on Liabil-
ity Issues and the two Awards should be read together.

Th
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iearing on quantum issues took place in Stockholm on 257 — 27 Sepiember
2006. Before the hearing both parties had filed pre-hearing briefs, GNSS on o™
September 2006 and Tenex on 22" September 2006. In addition, voluminous Ex-
hibits were filed. Many of those Exhibits had been filed already before the above

mentioned Procedural Order dated 11™ November 2005.

. Tenex has by e-mail on 1% December 2006 submitted a “BRIEF ON TIE

INVALIDITY OF THE ONSS-TENEX CONTRACT AND LACK OF
STANDING™ and Exhibit A. In the same e-mail Tenex informed the Tribunal that

Exhibits 1-460 had been sent on 1% December 2006 by internaticnal courier.

.In its Reply dated 6" December 2006 to a letter from the Tribunal dated 3" Decem-

ber 2006, GNSS contended that the Tribunal should not consider Exhibits 1-460 be-
cause that “evidence is irrelevant, old and untimely” and that in this circumstance
no hearing was necessary. If, however, the Tribunal did not agree, GNSS’s position
was that the hearing can and should take place as scheduled on 18"-20" December

2006 “afier which the record in this arbitration must be closed and a final award

must issue.”



5.0n 1™ December 2006 the Tribunal having regard to a letter from Tenex dated 16"
November 2006, a letter from GNSS dated 17" November 2006, Tenex's Brief
dated 1 December 2006 with exhibit A and Exhibits 1-460, GNSS$’s reply dated 6"
December 2006, a letter from Tenex dated 8" December 2006 and a letter from
GNSS  dated 8" December 2006, made a Procedural Order (PROCEDURAL
ORDER No. 1/2006): In this order the Tribunal made the following rulings:

“1 New Evidence

As evidenced by courier service receipt (Exhibit 461), the new evidence {Exhibits 1-460),
which has come up in the ongoing criminal investigations in Russia and the United States of
America has been sent on | December 2006, The Arbitral Tribunal finds Tenex's request
that this new evidence be allowed justified. Therefore, the Tribunal decides to allow the evi-

dence.
i Oral hearing

Since an oral hearing is found necessary and both partics have requested that an oral hearing,
if held. shall take place on 18-20 December 2006, the Arbitral Tribunal confirms that an oral

hearing will be held on those days.

The hearing will take place at Radisson SAS Strand Hotel AB Strand Hote! at Nybrokajen 9,
Steckholm, Sweden. The hearing will commence on 18 December 2006 at | p.m. and, if

necessary, go on until 20 December 2006 § p.m.”

6. The hearing on the validity of the GNSS-Tenex Contract took place in Stockholm
on 18" — 20" December 2006. The Tribunal is onee more indebted to the advocates
who presented their submissions and evidence with characteristic hucidity and skill.

7. Liven though the hearing on quantum issues took place before the hearing on the va-
lidity of the GNSS-Tenex Contract, the Tribunal deemed it appropriate to first deal
with the question of validity of the Contract. In case the Contract would be found to
be invalid or unenforceable, there would be no need to deal in the award with any
quantum issues, including the gualification of the Contract. The guantum issues, in-
cluding the qualification of the Contract, were the subject of the oral hearing re-

ferred o above at 7 2.



2 Tenex’s Position as to GNSS’s standing in this arbitration

and as to the validity of the Contract

2.1 Tenex's Prayers for Relief

(1)

{11}

(111)

8.In its Brief on Invalidity of the GNSS-Tenex Contract and Lack of Standing dated

I December 2006 Tenex request that the Tribunal

find that this dispute is non-arbitrable and dismiss GNSS claim in its entirety,

in the event the Tribunal would find that this dispute is arbitrable, that the Tribunal
find that the Contract is invalid or unenforceable and dismiss GNSS claim in its en-
tiraty: or

in the event the Tribunal would for some reason find that the evidence presenied by
Tenex at this stage is not sutficient to conclusively establish the existence of the
fraudulent scheme, postpone these proceedings and allow Tenex to collect new
evidence. Such new evidence would be presented within a few months from 1™

December 2006,

9. An organised criminal group, including among others Mr, Evgeniy Olegovich Ada-

mov ("Adamov”), former Minister of the Ministry for Atomic Energy of the Rus-
sian Federation (“Minatom™), Mr. Mark Kaushansky (“Kaushansky™), Mr,
Vyacheslav Dmitrievich Pismenny (“Pismenny™), former Head of the State Scien-
tific Centre Troitsky Institute of Innovative and Thermonuclear Research
("FRINITT”) and Chairman of the Board of Directors of GNSS, Mr. Revmir Geor-
gievich Fraishtut {*Fraishtut™), former General Director of Tenex and a member of
the Board of Directors of GNSS, and Mr. dlexander Georgievich Chernov (“Cher-
nov”), President of GNSS, as well as some other individuals (together referred to as
the “Groeup™), through TKST, Inc. (“TKST”) and then, Texi Inc. (“Texi”) ob-
tained 62 % of the shares in GNSS and paid for 49% of the shares in GNSS with in-
ternational assistance funds. Those funds, as asserted by the United States of Amer-

ica, had been stolen from the United States of America,



10. TKST was portrayed by the Group as a company that was ultimately owned by the

Russian state through the state-owned TRINITT and was acting in Tenex's interests.
fts President was Mr. Sergei Akimenko (“Akimenke”), who also was the President
of Texi. While TKST was indeed owned by the Russian State, it was not controlled
by the latier and was not acting in Tenex’s interests; to the contrary it was defraud-
ing Tenex. There was a secret agreement between Omeka Ltd (*Omeka”) and Texi,
private companies controlled by, among others, Adamov and Pismenny, that TKST
would buy 49 % of the shares in GNSS as an agent of Omeka and Texi. Tenex did
not know of this secret arrangement and was induced to believe that TKST would

buy the 49% of shares in GNSS for Tenex.

- GNSS and/or the members of the Group, i.e. among others, Adamov, Chernov, Pis-

menny and Fraishtut  fraudulently induced Tenex to enter into the GNSS-Tenex

Contract. Therefore GNSS lacks standing in this arbitration.

. The Group fraudulently acquired the 49% of shares in GNSS from the bankrupicy

estate of Nuexco Exchange AG (“Nuexeo™). In particular, Adamov and Pismenny,
with the assistance of other members of the Group:

Entered into a secret arrangement whereby the 49% of shares in GNSS would be
bought by TKST in the interest of Omeka and Texi, which companies were at that
time privately owned by Adamov and Pismenny, among others;

Adamov, as Minatom Minister, instructed Pismenny and Tenex to arrange for the
sale of the 49% of shares in GNSS from the bankruptey estate in order for Nuexco
to TKST;

The Group portrayed TKST as a company acting in Tenex’s interests using inter
alia the fact that TKST was ultimately owned by the Russian Federation (as was
Tenex) and controlled by Minatom (through state scientific institute TRINITI);

As a result of these actions by the Group Tenex was induced not to acquire the 49%
of shares in GNSS either directly from Nuexco’s bankruptcy estate {(although
Tenex. as the largest creditor of Mr. Oren Benton and his company Nuexco, was
fully entitled to do so and, in particular, could have obtained such shares without
payment, ins lieu of part of the debt written off in the U.S) or through its subsidiary
INTERNEXCO GmbH (“INTERNEXCO?), (although Tenex and INTERNEXCO

concluded a written agreement specifically in this respect);
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Had Tenex known that there was a secret arrangement between, among others,
Adamov and Pismenny, as a result of which TKST was not acting in Tenex’s inter-
ests, Tenex would never have agreed to the sale of these shares to TKST and would

have acquired them either in its own name or in the name of INTERNEXCO.

-Moreover, the money transferred by the Group for the 49% of shares in GNSS was

international assistance funds contributed by the United States and other nations for
installing safety upgrades at nuclear power plants in Russia and Eastern Europe,
which were used for various business investments of Adamov and Kaushansky.
US$ 250,000 that was used by the Group to pay for the 49 % of shares in GNSS
was wired, “on behalf of Omega”, from Energopool Inc. (“Energopool-DE™),
which was the company to which international assistance funds were transferred by

Western donors.

- Moreover, the Group introduced the state-owned company “Priargunskoye Proiz-

vodstvennoye Gomo-Khimischeskoye OUbyedinenyie” (“Priargunskoye”), which
owned 13 % of the shares in GNSS to fransfer its stake in GNSS for no considera-

tion.

-Priargunskoye was a state-owned company operating under the auspices of Mina-

lom. Priargunskoye’s General Director Mr. Larin (“Larin”) was Adamov’s subor-
dinate and it was therefore possible to make him dispose of Priargunskoye’s shares
in GNSS.

- The share certificates of Priargunskoye were with Arthur Andersen. On 19" July

1999 Priargunskoye (represented by Larin) instructed Arthur Andersen to provide
Pismenny, as Priargunskoye's representative, with Priargunskoye’s share certifi-
cates for its shares in GNSS. Priargunskoye expressly stated the reason for this in-
struction in a letter to Arthur Andersen of the same date:

the share certificates “are going to he used for proper registration of

foreign investment with Russian official registration authorities.”

- However, the purpose was to transfer ownership of Priargunskoye’s share certificate

for shares in GNSS to TKST. In fact, on 10 August 1999, shortly after Pismenny
obtained the certificates for the purpose of “proper registration”, Priargunskoye’s

shares were transferred to TKST for no consideration.

- As a result, the Group and any of the companies under its control, including TKST

and/or Texi, cannot be considered legitimate owners of the shares in GNSS. In par-



19,

ticular, they do not have authority to appoint executive bodies of GNSS and/or other
representatives of GNSS. This means that the appointment of Chernov to the post of
President of GNSS was invalid and, accordingly, appointment of GNSS’s counsel
by Chernov was also invalid. Thus, these proceedings were initiated by unauthor-
ised representatives of GNSS and should be terminated. GNSS’s counsel does not
have requisite authority to represent GNSS in this arbitration. Thus, GNSS lacks
standing in this arbitration. For the above reasons alone GNSS’s claim should be re-
Jected in its entirety.

GNSS fraudulently induced Tenex to enter into the GNSS-Tenex Contract. GNSS
and/or the members of the Group, including Adamov, Pismenny, Chermnov and
Fraishtut, ied Tenex to believe that TKST, which owned 62% of the shares in GNSS
(the other 38% of the shares in GNSS being owned by Tenex), was a company ul-
timately owned by the state and controlled by Minatom, and that TKST was acting
in the interest of Tenex. The Group concealed the fact that there was a secret ar-
rangement that TKST would act in the interests of Omeka and Texi, which were

controlled by the Group.

. GNSS and/or the Group acted intentionally in order to induce Tenex to (1) refrain

TV

from purchasing shares in GNSS, (2) gratuitously release GNSS's debt to Tenex

and finally (3) enter into the GNSS-Tenex Contract,

-GNSS and/or the Group knew that Tenex was entering into the GNSS-Tenex Con-

tract on the assumption that TKST was owned by the state and controiled by Mina-
tom and that GNSS was a company owned and controlled by Tenex and/or Mina-
tom, but concealed the fact that because of the secret arrangement between Adamov

and Pismenny, among others, this assumption was not true.

- Therefore, the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid or unenforceable as a matter of

Swedish law and international public policy.

23. The GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid or unenforceable on the basis of (1) Section 30

of the Swedish Contracts Act and/or {2) Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act,
and/or (3) the non-codified principle of underlying assumptions, which provides
that certain legal acts are invalid if the underlying assumptions are incorrect or
changed, and/or (4) the general principle enshrined in Swedish law that agreements

which violate the law or are contrary to good practice are not protected by law,

. The Swedish Contracts Act, Chapter 3, Section 30 reads (in its English translation)

as foilows:
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"Where a person in respect of whom a legal act is performed has in-
duced the performance of the act by fraudulent deception, or where
such party knew, or should have krnown, that the act was nduced by
Sraudulent deception on the part of the third party, such act shall not be

binding on the person fraudulently deceived,

Where a person in relation 1o whom a legal act is performed has
fraudulemly represented or withheld facts which may be presumed to
be material in relation to the act, such person shall be deemed to have
thereby induced the legal act, unless it is shown that such legal act was

not influenced by fraud

In this case the act, i.e. the GNSS-Tenex Coniract, was performed in respect of
GNSS. GNSS induced the performance of the act, t.¢. the conclusion of the GNSS-
Tenex Contract, by fraudulent deception. GNSS induced the conclusion of the
GNSS-Tenex Contract by fraudulently representing and/or withholding facts which
could be presumed 10 be material in relation to the GNSS-Tenex Contract, i.e. that

there existed a fraudulent scherme, a part of which was, inier alia, a secrei arrange-
ment pursuant to which TKST, and accordingly, GNSS acted in the interest of the
Group, and not in Tenex’s interest. Therefore, the GNSS-Tenex Contract cannot,
pursuant to Section 30 of the Swedish Contracts Act, be binding on the person so
fraudulently deceived, i.e. Tenex,

- The GNSS-Tenex Contract would be invalid pursuant to Section 30 of the Swedish
Contracts Act if, on the evidence before it, the Tribunal finds that: {1} GNSS,
through its representatives, either (1) intentionally made misrepresentations to or
concealed facts from Tenex, or (2) was aware or should have been aware that a third
party had made misrepresentations to or concealed facts from Tenex, and (1} those
facts were material to Tenex's decision to enter into the GNSS-Tenex Contract,
GNSS concealed the existence of the fraudulent scheme and Tenex would not have

entered into the GNSS-Tenex Contract had it known of the fraudulent scheme,

27.Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act reads (in its English translation) as fol-

lows;
A legal act which would otherwise be deemed valid may not be relied

upon where the circumstances in which it arose were such that, having
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30.

e

knowledge of such circumsiances, it would be inequitable to enforce
the legol act, and where the party in respect of whom such legal act

was performed must be presumed to have had such knowledge.”

. The GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid also pursuant to Section 33 of the Swedish

Contracts Act, since it forms part of a fraudulent scheme and (GNSS, through its
representatives, was aware of the fraudulent scheme when the GNS8-Tenex Con-
tract was concluded. In fact, representatives of GNSS, including Pismenny, the
Chairman of the Board of Directors of GNSS, were active participants of this

fraudulent scheme.

- The Swedish law principle of underlying assumptions provides that agreements or

legal acts may be declared invalid where the following requirements are met;

the assumption must have been essential to or decisive for the person performing
the legal act in question. In other words, the person would not have performed the
legal act had that person known the assumption was wrong or if he had known of
the subsequent changes;

both the existence of the assumption and its importance must have been evident for
the other party. Hence, the other party must have realised or should have realised
that the party performing the legal act relied on the assumption and would not have
performed the fegal act in its absence.

The GNSS-Tenex Contract is also invalid by virtue of the Swedish principle of un-
derlying assumptions since (i) Tenex entered into the GNSS-Tenex Contract under
certain assumptions that are now proved wrong and (ii} GNSS must have realised
that Tenex relied on these assumptions and would not have entered into the GNSS-

Tenex Contract in their absence,

-GNSS was aware of the fact that (1) the assumption that GNSS was ultimately con-

trolled by Tenex and Minatom was important for Tenex when concluding the
GNSS-Tenex Contract and that (2) this assumption was wrong because of the
traudulent scheme, which entailed secret arrangements between, among others,

Adamov and Pismenny.

-Under general principles of Swedish law an agreement which violates the law or is

contrary lo good practice, a pactum turpe, is invalid. This is indeed the case with
agreements where a person undertakes to commit a criminal act or to do something
that manifestly violates generally accepted morals or standards. Pursuant to Swedish

law a pactum (urpe is not protected by the legal system. ‘Thus, neither a court nor an



arbitral tribunal may enforce a pactum turpe. Indeed the preparatory works to the
Swedish Arbitration Act expressly mention that a dispute concerning a pactum

turpe 1s non-arbitrable and, consequently, that any such award is invalid.

ad
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-Since the GNSS-Tenex Contract forms part of a greater fraudulent scheme, the
GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid under Swedish law and hence could not be en-
forced in relation to Tenex.

34.The GNSS-Tenex Contract was part of a larger illegal scheme through which the
Group, headed by the Minatom Minister, fraudulently obtained control of the GNSS
with the Intention of divesting profits from sales of HEU Feed from Tenex and the
Russian Federation and allocating them to the Group. To obtain contral of GNSS,
the Group used, as asserted by the United States, stolen money. The proceeds from
such activities, including profits from the GNSS-Tenex Contract, were distributed
among the members of the Group. Substantial amounts were paid to Adamov at the
time when he was Minatom Minister and after that.

35. Therefore, the present dispute, in which GNSS claims proceeds of its and the
Group’s fraudulent actions, is not arbitrable. Should the Tribunal find that this dis-
pute is arbitrable, then it should acknowledge the invalidity of the GNSS8-Tenex
Contract and dismiss GNSS’s claim in its entirety.

36. The GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid or unenforceable as a matter of international

public policy. The GNSS-Tenex Contract was induced by fraud and corruption, in

which, among cothers, the former Russian Minatorm Minister was invoived. The sup-
pression of fraud, corruption and money laundering is an established part of interna-
tional public policy and must be respected by international arbitrators. Thus

GNSS’s claim should be rejected in its entirety.
3 GNSS’s position

3.1 Tenex’s standing argument fails

37.GNSS contend that, as can be seen from the minutes of the preparatory meeting
held at hotel Arlanda in Arlanda airport on 21™ July 2004, Tenex has waived any
argument regarding whether GNSS is a proper party to this arbitration. On page 2 of

those minutes one can find the following sentence:
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40,

3.3 The

“With respect to jurisdiction the Respondent informed that it accepted

the Claimani as the proper parly o these proceedings.”
Thus, Tenex’s standing argument is precluded and must be disregarded since it is
presented too late. Moreover, none of Tenex’s standing argument is valid under
Delaware law (GNSS is a Delaware corporation, which is governed by Delaware

corporate law}. Tenex does not even attempt to argue otherwise.

Tribunal Lacks Jurisdiction over Criminal Matters

CThe arbitration clause does not cover criminal matters. First, the arbitration clause

of the GNSS-Tenex Contract (Article 11.02) only covers any “...claim arising out
of or relating to this Contract...” and stipulates that any such claim “shall be exclu-
sively settled in accordance with the Rules of the [SCC Institute]” The criminal
charges against Adamov and others do not arise out of or relate to the GNSS-Tenex
Contract, nor can they be “exclusively settled by arbitration”. Such claim cannot be
settled under the Rules of the SCC Institute,

Secondly, pursuant to Section 1 of the Swedish Arbitration Act criminal matters are

GNSS-Tenex Contract is Valid

.GNSS 1s entitled to have the GNSS-Tenex Contract enforced since the Contract is

valid. The investigations and criminal proceedings are not relevant to this arbitra-
ton; they do not affect or relate to the core issues of breach of contract before this
Tribunal or to any valid defence Tenex may raise to these allegations. The transfer
of shares in GNSS is irrelevant to the question of the validity of the GNSS-Tenex
Contract. Also the release and discharge of debt is irrelevant to the question of the

validity of the GNSS-Tenex Contract.

2. Section 30 of the Swedish Contracts is given a very narrow interpretation. It is very

seldom applied by courts. There are in the last 60 years only a few cases in which

this provision has been applied.

-According to Tenex, the fraud and conspiracy is that Adamov illegally instructed

Fraihstut to enter into the GNSS-Tenex Contract. Tenex’s criminal allegations do

not make cut a case of fraudulent inducement, The Swedish Contracts Act Section
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46.

47.

48.

49,

30 applies only where “a person in respect of whom a legal act is performed has in-
duced the performance of the act by fraudulent deception,...such act shall not be
binding on the person fraudulent deceived.” The “persons™ in this case are corpora-
tions: GNSS and Tenex. For Tenex’s argument to work, it would need to show that
(QNSS fraudulently deceived Tenex.

Tenex identifies no misrepresentation by GNSS, and no resulting reliance by Tenex
that purportedly caused the Contract’s making. Instead, Tenex describes an internal
dialogue, not between Tenex and GNSS, but rather one within the family: between
Tenex and the Ministry it has admitted to serving as “agent” for, viz., Minatom. The
“fraud” aileged is an instruction from Adamov to Fraishtut. Tenex alleges no action
at all by GNSS, let alone a deception by GNSS that induced the GNSS-Tenex Con-

tract, before the Tribunal.

. Tenex also argues that the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid because “GNSS and/or

members of the Group acted...to induce Tenex to: (1) refrain from purchasing
shares in GNSS, (2) gratuitously release GNSS’s debt to Tenex, and finally (3) enter
mto the GNSS-Tenex Contract.”

These allegations, even if true, do not describe a claim for invalidity because the

. :

“Uroup” perpetraiing this alleged “fraud” includes Russia’s Minister of Atomic En-
ergy (Adamov). Thus Tenex is arguing that Tenex is both the perpetrator and al-
leged victim of an alleged fraud. This cannot form the basis for invalidating a con-
tract under Swedish law.

The Swedish Contracts Act Section 30 applies only “where a person in respect of
whom a legal act is performed has induced the performance ot the act by fraudulent
deception,...such act shall not be binding on the person fraudulently deceived.”
Tenex alleges that its own General Director participated in the alleged “fraud”. If
this is true, Tenex cannot demonstrate that it was “fraudulently deceived” into sign-
ing the GNSS-Tenex Contract.

The same reasoning rebuts Tenex’s reliance on Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts
Act and the theory of assumptions, because according to Tenex’s allegation both
parties to the Contract had knowledge of the circumstances under which it was en-
tered into. In such circumstances, neither Section 33, nor the theory of assumptions
could possibly operate o invalidate the GNSS-Tenex Contract.

Moreover, Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act is given a very nparrow interpre-

tatton. 1t is very seldom applied by courts. There are in the last 60 years only a few
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(8]

cases in which this provision has been applied. Also the doctrine of assumption has
very seldom been applied by courts. This doctrine is often called in question.

As a threshold matier, for all these legal grounds there must be a perpetrator and a
victim. In this case, according to Tenex’s own admission, Tenex was on the same
side as GNSS with respect to the purported “fraud”. Hence, even if true (which
GNSS vigorously opposes), Tenex’s allegations do not lead to invalidity of the

GNSS-Tenex Contract.

. The GNSS-Tenex Contract is not invalid or unenforceable as a matter of ordre pub-

tic. Vor ordre public 1o apply, the fundamental purpose of the contract must be ille-
pal itself (e.g. bribery) which is not the case here. In contrast 1o the bribery cases
cited by Tenex, the GNSS-Tenex Contract was an agreement for the sale of ura-
nium, endorsed by both governments, performed by the parties for vears, and under
which Tenex received every penny of what it billed to GNSS. Tenex had repeatedly
extolled the Contract’s critical importance to the sovereign, Tenex now calls a con-
tract “corrupt” when once upon a time it held that contract out as a classic example
of a sovereign function, The Russian Federation has changed its policy, and so long
as it pays appropriate compensation fo those affected by this change, it may do so —

[T

- ' (L)
but this does not make the former policy “illegal”.

.Tenex’s argument that the contract is contrary to public policy (ordre public) has

nothing to do with international public policy. The GNSS-Tenex Contract is one for
the sale of goods and is not remotely close to the kinds of contracts overturned on
public policy grounds. After having decided to replace GNSS and sell directly to
GNSS's customers, Tenex now contend that the Contract is contrary to the “public

policy” of the Russian Federation.

. Accordingly, whether the Tribunal looks at Swedish law, arbitral precedent, or

Tenex’s own pieadings, the answer is the same. Tenex fails to plead a valid claim of
ordre public, Lacking the nexus of a valid defence, the criminal allegations are by

definition irrelevant.

34, Finalty, Tenex does not even meet its burden of proof.



4 Reasons

4.1 Arbitrability

55,

The question of arbitrability of the present dispute is governed by Swedish law (¢f.

also the Partial Award dated 31% August 2006 99333 and 334). Pursuant to Section
i of the Swedish Arbitration Act, disputes concerning matters in respect of which
the parties may reach a settlement are arbitrable. The present dispute concerning the
validity or enforceability of the GNSS-Tenex Contract is a matter which the parties
may sctile even if either party had induced the conclusion of the Contract by a
criminal act. Thus this is the case, even if GNSS’s claims would proceed of its and
the Group’s fraudulent actions. Thus we find Tenex’s request, that the Tribunal find
the dispute 1o be non-arbitrable and on this ground dismiss GNSS8’s claim, in its en-

tirety unfounded,

4.2 GNSS standing in this arbitration

56.

It 1s true, as GNSS asserts, that, according to the minutes of the preparatory meet-
ing, held at hotel Arlanda in Arlanda airport, on 21% July 2004, Tenex “informed
that 1t ac-ceptcd the Claimant as the proper party to these proceedings” However,
Tenex’s statement must be seen in the light of the fact that Tenex in its Reply to
GNSS’s Request for Arbitration dated 23" January 2004 and in its rejoinder to
GNSS Reply dated 17" February 2004 had contended that the Claimant in this arbi-
tration is another fegal entity than the one with which Tenex had concluded the
GNSS-Tenex Contract. This ailegation was based on the fact that the GNSS-Tenex
Contract provides 1n its first paragraph that “Globe Nuclear Service and Supply
GINSS Limited” is a Swiss corporation. On this ground Tenex contended that GNSS
lacked standing and that the SCC Institute had no prima fucie jurisdiction over the

dispute.

. The ground on which Tenex now contends that GNSS Jacks standing in this arbitra-

tion {supra §99-18) is compietely different. Therefore, it is open to doubt whether
tenex as a result of its statement at the above mentioned preparatory meeting on

21 July 2004 (supra €56) can be deemed to have waived any argument relating to



the question whether GNSS Jacks standing in this arbitration. In particular, the point
of time when Tenex became aware of the facts on which it relies in support of its al-

legation may be relevant in this context,

[
oL

.However, there is no evidence that Tenex’s standing arguments would be valid un-
der Delaware law or any other law that could possibly be relevant in this context,
Thus, it has not been established that GNSS lacks standing in this arbitration. We
observe, in passing, that given our findings, the Tribunal has not needed to consider
GNSS’s allegation that Tenex has waived any argument regarding whether GNSS is

a proper party to these proceedings.

4.3 The Tribunal’s Jurisdiction and Criminal Matters

39, As GNSS asserts, the arbitration clause in the GNSS-Tenex Contract does not cover
criminal matters, GNSS s equally right in asserting that pursuant fo Secfion I of the
Swedish Arbitration Act criminal matiers are not arbitrable. However, this does not
mean that the Tribunal, when considering the validity and enforceability of the
GNSS-Tenex Contract, may not take into account such facts that also may consti-
tie a criminal offence or, as an incidental question, decide whether a certain act or
omission constitutes an offence, and consider the civil aspects thereof, The arbitra-
tion clause in the GNSS-Tenex Contract provides, inter alia, explicitly that any
“dispute, controversy or elaim arising out of or relating to this Contract or the
breach, termination or invalidity thereof, shall be exclusively settled by arbitra-
tion...”". GNSS’s allegation that the Tribunal lacks jurisdiction to consider such
facts that also may constilute a criminal act or omission is thus in iis entirety un-

founded.

4.4 invalidity or unenforceability of the GNSS-Tenex Contract as a

matter of Swedish faw

4.4.1 introduction

60, Tenex contend that the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid or unenforceable as a mat-
ter of Swedish law on several different grounds. To begin with, we note that GNSS

has not objected to or called into question any specific evidence or document sub-



mitted by Tenex in support of its contention that the GNSS-Tenex Contract is inva-
lid or unenforceable. We further note that the Danish, Norwegian and Swedish Con-
tract’s Act prepared and enacted during the second decade of the 20" century and
can even afier some amendments made later be regarded as uniform laws. In order
to achieve uniformity in the field of contracts law in the Nordic countries, Finland
adopted in 1929 a Contracts Act. The Finnish Contracts Act is with very few excep-
tions, which are of no relevance in this context, literally uniform with the Swedish

Contracts Acl.

. We shall [irst deal with the contentions that GNSS induced the performance of the

act, 1.¢. the GNSS-Tenex Contract, by fraudulent deception and that the GNSS-
Tenex Contract forms part of a fraudulent scheme and that GNSS, through its repre-
sentatives, was aware of this fact when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded.
Those alleged facts obviously reflect seriously upon the integrity, good faith and
reputation of GNSS and its senior executives. Obviously, if the GNSS-Contract cor-
responds to both parties’ assumption at time when the Contract was concluded, a
claim that the Contract is invalid or unenforceable cannot found in fraud. However,
because of the serious allegations against individuals in particular, and since the so-
cailed doctrine on assumptions is often called into question, we have decided first to

address the ¢laims based on Sections 30 and 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act.

4.4.2 Invalidity pursuant to Section 30 of the Swedish Contracts Act

(fraudulent deception)

62.

63

What is the evidence for Tenex’s contention that the GNSS-Tenex Contract was in-
duced by fraudulent deception or that the GNSS-Tenex Contract forms part of a
fraudulent scheme and that GNSS, through its representatives, was aware of this
fact when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded?

The GNSS-Tenex Contract was signed on 31 of January 2000, on behalf of GNSS
by Pismenny and Chemov and on behalf of Tenex by Fraishtut and Mr. Alexey
Grigoriev ("Grigoriev”), who at that time was a Deputy General Director and the
Commercial Director of Tenex. On 22™ December 1999, Pismenny was elected
Chairman of the Board of Directors of GNSS (Exhibit 267) and shortly afterwards,

Fraishtut, who had become General Director of Tenex at the end of January 1999,

joined Pismenny on the Board of Directors of GNSS. Tenex does not even suggest



that Fraishtut when signing the GNSS-Tenex Contract believed that GNSS was a
company wholly owned and controlled by Tenex or Minatom. On the contrary,
Tenex contend that Fraishtut was a member of the Group and that, when the GNSS-
Tenex Contract was concluded, everyone, except the Members of the Group, at
Tenex and Minatom believed that GNSS was a company wholly owned by Tenex
and Minatom. Thus it is plain that Tenex’s General Director Fraishtut, when signing
the GNSS-Tenex-Coniract on behaif of Tenex, was not induced by fraudulent de-
ceptien to conclude the GNSS-Tenex Contract.

64. Under Article 13 of Tenex’s Charter the GNSS-Tenex Contract had to be signed by
two officers of Tenex. Tenex contend that Grigoriev affixed the second signature to
the GNSS-Tenex Contract only after Fraishtut had assured him that GNSS contin-
ued to be controlled by Minatom. This contention is evidenced by the statement
Grigoriev made when he was examined as a witness under questioning by the Gen-
eral Prosecutor’s Office.

65, In his witness statement (Exhibit 366 page 4) Grigoriev said, infer alia, as follows:
“Having signed the coniract, Mr. Fraishiut suggested that I put my sig-
nature on the contract with GNSS as a second one, required by

fechsnabexporl’s procedure. [ put my signature on the coniraci pro-
ceeding from the fact that the contract had already been signed by Mr.
Fraishtut. Moreover, [ confirmed it with Mr. Fraishtut that GNSS was
still controfled by RF Ministry of Atomic Energy, and he assured me
that GNSS was under the Ministry’s conirol.”

66. As mentioned above (supra 963), Tenex contend that Fraishtut was a member of the
Group and thus aware of the fact that GNSS was not under the control of Tenex or
Minatom, Since Fraishtut was the General Director of Tenex and signed the GNSS-
‘tenex Contract on behalf of Tenex, we find, that Tenex cannot be deemed 1o have
been fraudulently induced to conclude the Contract. The fact that also Grigoriev
signed the Contract, after Fraishiut had assured him that GNSS continued to be con-

trolied by Minatom, is, in the Tribunal’s view, in this context not relevant.

4.4.3 Invalidity pursuant to Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act

67. We shall now censider whether the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid pursuant to

Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act. This provision is verbatim identical with
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Section 33 of the Finnish Contracts Act. As mentioned above at § 27 the provision
reads in its English translation as follows:
A legal act which would otherwise be deemed valid may not be relied
upon where the circumstances in which it arose were such that, having
knowledge of such circumstances, it would be inequitable to enforce
the legal acl, and where the party in respect of whom such legal act

was performed must be presumed to have had such knowledge.

68. In order for Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act to apply, both an objective and
a subjective requirement must be fulfilied. As regards the objective requirement, the
circumstances in which the act arose must be such that, having knowledge of such
circumsiances, it would be inequitable to enforce the legal act. However, the provi-
ston does neither define such circumstances nor even mention examples of such cir-

cumstances. It is thus uftimately for a court or an arbitral tribunal to exercise iis dis-

requirement might be fulfilled. The provision refers to the circumstances at the time
of the making of a contract, not to anything that happened later, nor to the contents
of the coniract, and the effect depends on what the party acting contrary to good
faith “must” know at the time of making.' In case a party cannot even be presumed
to have had knowledge of the circumstances, his conduct cannot be inequitabie.
Thus, as regards the subjective requirement, the party must be presumed to have had
knowledge of these circumstances at the time of making of the contract, However,
there is no requirement that he has regarded his conduct to be inequitable or even
thought that his conduct may be regarded inequitable.

69. As aresult of the vague wording of the provision, Section 33 of the Swedish Con-
tracts Act has a wide range of application. As Sections 28-32 of the Swedish Con-
tracts Act (duress, fraudulent deception, undue influence and mistake}, Section 33
relates to circumstances occurring at the time of the making of a contract. Accord-
ing 1o its wording it also encompasses situations covered by other, more specific,
grounds for invalidity set forth in Chapter 3 of the Swedish Contracts Act. 1t is,
however, plain that the provision aims at such cases in which the other more spe-

cific grounds for invalidity set out in Chapter 3 of the Swedish Contracts Act do not

" bieltner in Strémbolm, (ed.), An Introduction to Swedish Law, 1988, r.240,



apply. Thus, the more general provision in Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act
supplements the other more specific provisions of Sections 28-32 of the Swedish
Contracts Act.” In practice Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act has been ap-
plied mostly in situations which resemble those governed by the other, more special
rules of the chapter, but where the circumstances are somewhat attenuated.®

70, However, the supplementary nature of Section 33 of the Swedish Contracts Act
does not mean that an application of the provision is excluded as soon as a contract
may be invalid on a more specific ground, in particular in the event this more spe-
cific ground is set out in other legislation than Chapter 3 of the Swedish Contracts
Act. There is no support for a contrary view in the wording of the Swedish Con-
tracts Act ot in its iravaux préparatoires.’ Neither does there seem to be any sup-

port for a contrary view in case law nor in legal literature.

.

- According to Swedish law a court or an arbitral tribunal may not declare a contract
invalid because of any other fact than a fact which a party has invoked as a ground
in support of his contention that the contact is invalid. *We have found above that
the contract is not invalid pursuant to Section 30 of the Swedish Contracts Act be-
cause of fraudulent deception, which is the only other ground for invalidity set out
tn Chapter 3 of the Swedish Contracts Act which has been invoked by Tenex. The
other grounds for invalidity invoked by Tenex are not set out in Swedish legislation.

72. Thus, the question is {a) whether there is evidence that the circumstances in which

the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded were such that it would be inequitable if

GNSS, having knowledge of those circumstances at the time when the contract was

concluded, could rely on the Contract and (b) whether there is evidence that GNSY

must be presumed (o have had such knowledge when the GNSS-Tenex Contract

was conciuded.

4.4.3.1 The ownership and control of GNSS and TKST

73. When the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded TKST owned 62 % of the shares in

GNSS. The remaining 38% of the shares were owned by Tenex.

See, ez Hedlner, op.cit,, p.239 p. and Gréanfors, Avtalslagen, 3 ed, 19935, p 207

CSee ey Heliner, op cit. 240, and Ramberg-Hultmark, Allmin avtalsratt, 5 ed, 1999,

" See Forslag till lag om avial och andra rdttshandlingar pd formagenhetsrittens omréde, lag om avbetalningskdp
mom. avgivna den 31 januari 1914 av diril utsedda kommitterade. Stockholm 1914

" See Heumair, Skiljemannardtt, 1999, p.618.



74.

75.

76.

77

78.

TKST had in December 1999 bought 49% of its shares in GNSS from the bank-
rupt’s estate of Nuexco (Exhibits 329-332). On 17" December 1999 GNSS’s direc-
tors approved registration of TKST as a new shareholder (Exhibit 344) and again
approved this on the board meeting on 20” December 1999 (Exhibit 345). On 10®
August 1999, TKST acquired [rom Priargunskoye, a Russian state owned enterprise
operated by Minatom, 13% of the shares in GNSS. On 20™ December 1999 the
Board of Directors of GNSS approved the transfer of Priargunskoye's shares in
GNSS to TKST (Exhibit 345). As a result of those transfers TKST obtained a con-
trolling stake in GNSS (62 %).

TKST was ultimately owned by the Russian state through the state owned TRINITI
scientific institute. The Institute was headed by its Director Pismenny from July
1978 1o December 2003. As can be seen from the Charter of TRINITI (Exhibit 213
and 215), the director is the chief executive officer of TRINITI and appointed by the
Minister of Minatom on a contractuai basis and will be accountable to him.
TRINITI is a state scientific institution controlled by Minatom. Minatom approved
the Charter of TRINITI and all amendments thereto, TRINITT has the organisational
form “state unifary enterprise of Minatom”. TRINITT was thus controlled by the
Minister of Minatom, Le. Adamov.

[n the early 1990s TRINITI had a U.S. subsidiary incorporated in Utah, TRINITY
Kuratchov Science Technology, Inc., acronym “TKST” (“TKST-Old™). TKST-0Old
was liquidated in the mid-1990s (Exhibits 217-219).

TKST (whose name is the same as the acronym for TKST-Old) was incorporated in
1993 in Pennsylvania. As shown by a share certificate (Exhibit 223), TRINITI
owned all 100 shares in TKST. The Deputy Director of TRINITI Vladimir
Cherkovets (“Cherkovets™) testified on 28" November 2000 before a senior inves-
tigator of the Investigation Division of the Federal Security Service of Russia (Ex-
hibit 224) that in 1994 there was no longer a need for further operation of the
TKST-0OId and accordingly, Pismenny instructed the president of TKST-Old Aki-
menko to terminate the existence of TKST-Old in the United States.

Cherkovets further testified as follows:

“During the same period Akimenko lefi the institute and moved with his

family 1o Pennsylvania. There he created another company under the

name of TKST'..., where he assumed the post of president ...



When the company was created it issued 100 shares of stock with no
value, which Akimenko transferred o our institute, represemted by iis
direcior Pismenny ...
Also in 1994, the institute signed with TKST an agreement to supply
limited quantities of office equipment, but from ihat time until the pre-
sent day I have no information of the business of this company.
Based on the documents held at the institute and made available 10 the
investigation the president of the TKST corporation is Akimenko, while
the owner is RE SCC TRINITL”
79.As can be seen from a “Written Consent of Board of Directors of TKST” dated
4™ April 2000 (Exhibit 234) Pismenny was also a Director of TKST.
80.0n the evidence before us we find if plain that TKST was a state company owned

by TRINITI and controled by Pismenny and Adamov.

4.4.3.2 The Acquisition by TKST of 49% of the shares in GNSS and Ada-

mov’s appointment as Minister of Minatom

R1. After Oren Benton and five of his U.8. Companies, among which was Nuexco
Trading Corporation (“NTC™), had filed for bankrupicy in the United States,
Nuexco filed for bankruptcy in Switzerland in March 1996 ( Exhibits 33 and 21).
Mr. Richard Butz (“Butz”) was appointed Nuexco’s liquidator and was to dispose
of Nuexco's 49 % shares in GNSS,

82.As can be seen from the “Release and Waiver” from Tenex in favour of GNSS
dated 31" of December 1999 (RX 144), as of 1999 GNSS owed Tenex more than
US$ 113 million for various uranium deliveries purchased by GNSS$ for Nuexco,
NTC and other Benton Companies.

83.1t seems fo have been the intention of both Tenex and GNSS itself, from the outset
of Nuexco’s bankruptcy, that Nuexco’s 49 % of the shares in GNSS would be trans-
ferred to Tenex. This can be seen, inter alia, from the Report dated 280 February
1996 on GNSS Activities in 1995 (Exhibit 28). In this Report Chernov stated,
among other things, as follows:

“1In 1996 work should be completed for the iransfer of the 49 % in-
terest in GNSS that currenily belongs to Nuexco Exchange AG fo Rus-

sian shareholders.”



84.Moreover, from the Minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting of GNSS held on
28" March 1997 (Exhibit 31) it can be seen that the transfer of Nuexco’s shares
(49 % of GNSS) to Tenex was then under negotiation,

85.As can be seen form the Decree of the President of the Russian Federation No. 226
dated 4" March 1998 (Exhibit 44), Adamov was appointed Minister of Minatom on
the same day.

86. After Adamov’s appointment Tenex continued to work towards getting control of
the 49% of shares in GNSS, Certain events delayed the process.

87.As can be seen from Pleiades Group’s (“Pleiades”) Request for Arbitration dated
18" December 1998 (Exhibit 18) Pleiades alleged that Tenex was obliged to arrange
for the transfer of 49% of the shares in GNSS to Pleiades pursuant to an agreement
on Joint Venture Activity.

88. Moreover, as evidenced by letiers dated 8% and 30" April 1998 (Exhibits 178-179)
trom White & Case to Tenex, a Brazilian Company, INB (a creditor of Nuexco) op-
posed the transfer of 49% of the shares in GNSS to Tenex.

89.1n addition, as evidenced by a circular letter in the bankruptey proceedings concern-
ing Nuexco (Exhibit 180), a non-creditor of Nuexco had offered CHF 175,000 for
49% of the shares in GNSS. In this cireular letter Butz requested that all interested
parties submit their offers by 31% August 1998.

90, By letter No 1201/4504 of 13" August 1998 (Exhibit 182) Tenex confirmed to its
fawyer at White & Case (Carolyn Lamm) that it was “strongly interested in acquir-
ing” these 49% shares in GNSS.

91. By letter dated 28 August 1998 (Exhibit 192) White & Case advised Tenex to use
s German subsidiary INTERNEXCO “to bid and witimately purchase the shares”,
since two Russian Central Bank approvals would be required in order for Tenex to
purchase the GNSS shares and the approval process took approximately six months.
In the same letter it was said that Tenex can then purchase the shares from
INTERNEXCO after obtaining the required approvals.

92. Tenex had aiready earlier made arrangements for purchase of the shares through
INTERNEXCO. By letter of 21™ August 1998 1o Tenex (Exhibit 188)
INTERNEXCO informed Tenex that it will follow Tenex’s proposai to bid on be-
half of Tenex for the 49 % GNSS share package. After having got the aforemen-
tioned letter from White & Case dated 28" August 1998, Tenex immediately signed

an agreement with INTERNEXCO according to which INTERNEXCO would bid
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96,

for the shares and then sell them 1o Tenex and instructed INTERNEXCO to “start
with the procedure of the acquisition of 49% GNSS shares from the Bankruptcy Ay~
thority....” {(Exhibit 199).

.Tenex contends that Adamov instructed Pismenny in the autumn of 1998 to arrange

for preliminary work on the purchase of 49% of the shares in GNSS by TKST. As
evidence for this contention Tenex has presented an undated letter from Pismenny
to Adamov, in which Pismenny referred to such instructions and a record of ques-
tiomng Adamov by the RF Prosecutor General’s Office. The text of the letter (Ex-
hibit 196) reads as follows:

"l connection with the instruction that you gave by telephone to or-

ganise the preparatory works for TKST, Inc. o acquire shares in

GNSS, I need to change the itinerary of my irip and the time I am per-

mitted to spend abroad in order that I can go 1o Switzerland and refurn

Jfrom Zurich on 16 September 1998,

Please give your consent to these changes.”

According to the Record of the questioning Adamov by the Prosecutor General’s

Office dated 11™ March 2001 (Exhibit 197), Adamov said at this questioning, inzer

“Question: Did you instruct V.D. Pismenny, in the autumn of 1998 to

carry out preparatory work for the acquisition by the company TKST

Inc. of an interest in GNSS (Globe Nuclear Services and Supplies)

Switzerland and, if you did, how many shares were acquired? What

part of the charter capital of GNSS do they represent?

Answer: I'gave V.D. Pismenny such an instruction in conjunction with

Tehsnab. I do not know how many shares were bought up.”
In the light of this evidence and of Adamov’s, Pismenny’s, who on 22™ December
1999 was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors of GNSS (Exhibit 267), and
TKSTs subsequent behaviour we find it plain that Adamov in the autumn of 1998
instructed Pismenny to arrange preparatory work on the purchase of 49% of the
shares in GNSS by TKST.
As evidenced by a Memorandum from White & Case dated 15" September 1998
and a letter dated 16" September 1998 from Tenex’s Swiss lawyer George Friedli
("Friedhi”) to White & Case (Exhibits 200-201), TKST presented a bid for 49% of
the shares in GNSS on 15" September 1998,
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Tenex contend that Tenex (including its lawyers) and INTERNEXCQ treated TKST
as a company affiliated with Minatom and acting in the interest of Tenex. In support
of this Tenex has presented the following evidence:

First, Friedli wrote to White & Case in a letter dated 16" September 1998 (Ex-
hibit 201), as follows:

“Mr. "Serguey” informed my secretary last night that he had placed an

offer ai the Swiss Bankrupicy Office in Olten, 1do not know the amount

of the offer and I assume that the offer was secured by a guaraniee of

Credit Suisse First Boston. For obvious reasons I will not oppose this

offer for the time being ™

Second, in a memorandum dated 16™ September 1998 (Exhibit 201) White & Case

informed Tenex that one of the options for Tenex to get the shares was to obtain a
letter signed by all Nuexco’s creditors requesting that the shares be sold to Tenex
and 1o “ask Mr. Serguey 10 withdraw his offer so that Tenex or INTERNEXCO could
receive the shares.” Tenex contends that “Mr. Serguey” is Akimenko. This has not
been disputed by GNSS and we see no reason to believe that “Mr. Serguey” would
be somebody else than Akimenko.

Third, in a letter dated 17" September 1998 (Exhibit 202y INTERNEXCO informed
Tenex that three offers for 49% of the shares in GNSS had been made:

U A INTERNEXCO GmbH (200.000 CHF)

2. TRIA marine (this 175000 CHF).

3.7 (must be from MINATOM) "
Fourth, INTERNEXCO wrote in a letter dated 23'¢ September 1998 to Tenex, inter
alia, as follows:

“Evidenily, there appears to be a great visk thar Tenex and even TKST

{acting on behalf of Minatom?), might loose the opportunity to pur-

chase the 49% GNSS share package altogether.”
We find this evidence convincing and conclude that Tenex (including its lawyers)
and INTERNEXCO treated TKST as a company affiliated with Minatom and acting
in the interests of Tenex.
In a letter dated 23" September 199§ (RX 142) and signed by Tenex’s Deputy Gen-
eral Director A.V. Shvedov, Tenex requested instructions from Minatom as to fur-

ther action and stated that the options for further course of action were:

Option | —direct purchase of the shares by Tenex.



o Ovption 2 — “purchase of the shares by any other "friendly” participant in the quc-
fion”, which inciuded:
o Option 2a — purchase of GNSS shares by INTERNEXCO in which Tenex
owned 51% of the shares, and
o Option 2b — “Purchase of the shares by the American company TKST
(100 %6 of the shares of which are owned by State Scientific Centre Troitsky
Innovative and Thermonuclear Research Institute). The drawback of this
option was “lack of an agreement between AQ Techsnabexport and TKST
on the terms and condilions of the subsequent transfer of the shares, limited
Jinancial resources for guaranteed successful participation in the second
stage of the auction. AQ Techsnabexport's lotal costs on achieving the final
objective are impossible o estimare until the agreement on transfer is con-
cluded. ™
104. Viadimir Vinogradov, the Deputy Minister of Minatom, approved option 2b on the
same day, i.e. 237 September 1998, by subscribing a handwritten note on the first
page of Tenex’s letter. According to the Record of questioning Vinogradov by the
Prosecutor General’s Office (Exhibit 208) dated 16% August 2005 Vinogradov re-
plied, inrer alia, as tollows:
Question: “How was the decision taken to acquire ihe 49% of GNSS
through TKST? What written documents are there relating to this mat-
fer?”
Answer: “[ do not know how the decision was taken or how the nego-
tiations were held. Neither can [ say whether there are any documents
abour this.”
Question: “What role did F.Q. Adamov and other persons play in this
decision? What undersiandings were reached?”
Answer: “[ can’i veply to this question but, I personally, made a rec-
ommendation by telephone that TKST take part in the tender for the
49% shares in GNSS. Adamov did not object.”
105, Aithough it was decided that the shares in GNSS should be acquired by TKST,
Penex has produced evidence that Tenex was very much involved in TKST’s pur-
chase of the 49% of shares in GNSS. This evidence, which is overwhelming, in-

cludes:
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106.A memorandum dated 25" September 1998 from Tenex’s lawyers White & Case.
White & Case sent by letter dated 28" September 1998 this memorandum fo Mr.
Vinogradov, Chairman, Board of directors, Tenex and Mr. Shiskin, Director Gen-
eral, Tenex (Exhibit 282). This memorandum contained recommendations of ac-
tions to be taken by TKST, “Mr. Sergey” (Akimenko) and Mr. Dieter Baumgartner
(TKST’s representative). In this memorandum White & Case {Carolyn Lamm)
noted, inter alia, that:

VAt this time, neither Mr. Sergey, Mr. Baumgariner or ourselves should
begin raking positions ubout the appropriate procedures, i.e. before we
have an undersianding as to whether or not there is opposition from
creditors (who have standing to sue in Switzerland) and, we, together
with you, decide what maneuvers will be most likely to permit us to be
successful in acquiring the shares. Hence, it is premature o take action
and suggest any process, procedure, rules or regulations for the final

disposition of the shares ...

Given all of the competing interests (other than our own), without a
coordinated effort there is a good chance that we could loose the op-
portunity to obtain the shares which are now well within reach. Ac-
cordingly we suggest that you requesi Mr. Sergey and Baumgartner
coordinate either directly through Tenex or through myself so that we
are able to work in a strategic way 10 obtain the desired result.”

107 A circular Jetter to Nuexco’s creditors and a letter to INTERNEXCO, both from the
Bankruptey Authorities (Butz) dated 13™ October 1998. (Exhibits 203-204). In the
first one Butz noted, infer alia, the following:

“However, on the creditor’s part has been filed a petition (o the bank-
ruplcy Authorities. According (v the petition the shares have to be sold

to TKST, Inc., the highesi bidder, for the amount of 200.000.”

and in the letter to INTERNEXCO, inter alia, the following:

“lhe Bankrupicy Authorities are in possession of a petition filed on the
creditor’s part. Aecording to the petition, the shares have to be sold 1o
TKST. Inc., which submitted the highest offer in the amount of CHF
200,000 for the GNSS shares.”



108, A circular fetter to Nuexco’s creditors from the Bankruptcy Authorities (Butz) dated
1™ November 1998 (exhibited to Exhibit 287). In this circular letter Butz noted, in-
ler afia, the following:

“The company Industries Nucleates do Brazil (IBN) did not accept the
request submitied by TENEX according 1o which the shares should be
transferred to TKST, inc”

109.An office memorandum dated 5™ August 1999 (Exhibit 302) provided by Shvedov
to Fraishtut. This memorandum was listing the options available to gain control
over the 49% of shares in GNSS.

110.A letter dated 6" August 1999 from TFraishtut to White & Case (Lamm) (Ex-
hibit 303). In this letter Fraishtut gave the following instructions:

“After careful consideration of your 15 July 1999 memo concerning the
above maitler, we determined thut the most feasible course of action for
us seems 1o be a participation in an auction organised by Mr. BUTZ of
one of the friendlv companies like TKST.”

IT1A letter from Tenex’s Swiss lawyer Friedli to the members of the Board of Direc-
tors of GNSS dated 14™ December 1999 (Exhibit 332). In this letter to which the
purchase contract dated 9™ December 1999 is exhibited, Friedli confirms that the
shares of 49% in GNSS in his view are now validly bought from the estate of
Nuexco in bankruptey by TKST for the purchase price of CHF 200.000.

112.0n the evidence produced by Tenex we find it plain that Tenex played an active and
important role in TKST s purchase of the 49% of shares in GNSS. It is plain from
the evidence before us that Tenex took action and assisted TKST to acquire
Nuexco’s 49 % of the shares in GNSS. The only sensible reason why Tenex would
have an interest to take action and assist TKCST to acquire the shares in GNSS, and
for Tenex’s owner, the Russian state, to accept it would, however, have been the
understanding that TKST was conirolled by the Russian state and that the transfer of
Nuexco’s 49 % of the shares in GNSS to TKST was a method for Tenex to get con-
trol of the shares. This is further supported by the fact that even Pismenny, when
under questioning as a suspect by the General Prosecutor’s office (Exhibit 251- Re-
cord of Questioning of Pismenny dated 15" May 2005, page 3), made statements
clearly indicating that there was an arrangement that TKST would buy 49% of the

shares in GNSS in Tenex’s interests.
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4.4.3.3 Release and discharge of GNSS debt to Tenex

H13. An impediment for TKST’s contro! over GNSS and its business was GNSS’s debt
to Tenex of about US$ 113 million. However, on 31% December 1999 GNSS, repre-
sented by Pismenny and Chernov, and Tenex, represented by Fraishtut and a book-
keeper, entered inte a Release and Waiver Agreement (RX 144). Pursuant to this
agreement Tenex “frrevocably and gratuitously” discharged GNSS of its obligation
to pay Tenex USS 113,088,360.00, which was GNSS8’s debt for nuclear supplies in-
volving Nuexco. The rematning amount of the debt USS 19,879, 028 was paid by
GINSS to Tenex.

['14. Tencx contend that the only plausible explanation for the debt release was the image
of TKST as a Tenex-friendly company controlied by TRINITI, which would trans-
fer the shares to Tenex upon the latter’s request. No other plausible explanation has
even been alleged in this arbitration. According 10 the Recitals of the Release and
Waiver Agreement Tenex desired to forgive GNSS’s liability gratuitously as a re-
sult ol inter alia, the fact that Tenex “is a principal shareholder of GNSS” (Recital
[£}.

115, Such a debt release without any consideration would aiso otherwise be difficult to
understand as can be seen from a letier from Friedli to White & Case dated 4™ De-
cember 2000 (Exhibit 362). In this letter Friedli mentions various alternatives, e.g.
exiensions of the subordination agreements or bankruptey of GNSS.

16, We therefore agree with Tenex's contention that the only plausible explanation for
the debt release was the image of TKST as a Tenex-friendly company controlled by

TRINITI, which would transfer the shares to Tenex upon the latter’s request.

4.4.3.4 Conclusion of the GNSS-Tenex Contract

P17 When TKST obtained 62 % of the shares in GNSS, GNSS was reselling HEU Feed
on the basis of the Contract between Tenex and GNSS No. 08843672/86007-02D
dated 27™ September 1996 (“19%6 Contract™) (Exhibit 364). As pointed out by
Tenex the structure of the sales under the 1996 Caontract was as follows:

s GNSS would enter into contracts with end users for the sale of HEU Feed and

would provide these contracts to Tenex (Article 2.02).
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Tenex and GNSS would enter into contracts (in the form of addenda to the 1996
Contract) for the sale of the amounis of HET Feed that GNSS undertook to sell fo
cach end user (Articie 1.03).

The prices would be “mutually agreed upon™ between Tenex and GNSS in the cor-
responding addenda to the 1996 Contract (article 3.01).

The 1996 Contract was concluded for the term “wuntil all UF6nat to be delivered by
USEC to TSE under the USEC Contract has been resold to End Users” (Article
1.02), i.e. untii the year 2013,

. Tenex contend that Chernov in 1999, when TKST was in the process of taking over

GNBS, suggested for the first time, that coniractual relations between Tenex and
GNSS be reconsidered and requested that a new contract or an amendment to the
1996 Contract be concluded. Among the changes suggested by Chernov, the most
significant were that (1) the price at which Tenex sells HEU Feed to GNSS shouid
no longer be dependent on the price at which GNSS sells the HEU Feed to end us-
ers, and that (2) the price at which GNSS sells HEU Feed to end users should no
longer be disclosed to Tenex. This is supported by the testimony of an employee at
Tenex. Mr. Mikhail Aboimov, who was in charge of contracts within the framework
of HEU-LEU Agreement. He testified as a witness under questioning by the Gen-
eral Prosecutor’s Office on 25" January 2006 (Exhibit 365 page 3), infer alia, that
“Since March 1999, when there was a contract signed with the western
comparies, il became necessary to amend the existing contract of 1996

as the volume of material stipulated in the contract between GNSS and

OAC “Techsnabexport” exceeded the maximum material available 1o

the Russian side by the terms of the contract with the western compa-

nies. To address this discrepancy we could reduce the amount of mate-

rial for GNSS. Mr Chernov’s position was that GNSS should be treated

on equal ferms with the western companies get an equal reference

price and not (o have an obligation to inform OAQ “Technsnabexport”

about end users and terms and conditions of contfracts with them.”

Another employee at Tenex, Mr. Boris Gvodzev testified as a witness under ques-
tioning by the General Procurator’s office on 23" January 2006 (Exhibit 193
page ), inter alia, that

“Ay soon as Techsnabexporl and the three Western Companies

(Cameco, Cogema and Nukem) agreed new terms for selling the natu-
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ral component under the HEU-LEU project and the contract was

signed in March 1999, Mr. Chernov put the question of whether these

new terms should be applicable in full 10 the contract between GNSS

and Techsnabexport”

Moreover, it is clear from Mr. Aboimov’s and Mr. Gvozdev’s testimonies that they
opposed those suggestions made by Mr. Chernoy.

Mr. Aboimov testified (Exhibit 365} that: “The terms and conditions of the existing
coniract were fransparent, i.e. GNSS worked for a fixed remuneration, contracts
with end-users, the volumes and prices were stated in addenda to the contract,
Uranservis managers, including myself, believed that a new contract with GNSS
was (o be based on the same principles.”

Mr. Gvozdev testified (Exhibit 193 page 6) that: “Chernov sent Techsnabexport a
drafi supplement to the exisiing contract. According to the existing procedure at
Techsnabexport, all addenda, like new contracts, must be vised by the company's
relevant subdivisions. This means that the draft supplement from Chernoy came 1o

my department. I drafied in writing a list of comments on the draft.”

. On or about 26" January 2006 Chernov came to Moscow. Chernov and Pismenny

handed to Fraishtut two fetters dated 26" January 2000 (RX 20 and RX 60), in
which GNSS suggested terminating the 1996 Contract and entering into the GNSS-
Tenex Contract. A draft of the GNSS-Tenex Contract prepared by GNSS was at-

tached 1o one of these letters.

- From the testimony given by Mr. Aboimov before this Tribunal and the witness

statements at the General Prosecutor’s Office by Messrs. Grigoriev, Aboimov and
Mikerin, who at that time was a deputy Director of Tenex’s commercial division
{the firm Uranservice), we conclude that Tenex’s officers, in particular those who
were responsible for commercial terms of Tenex’s contracts, opposed the conclu-
sion of the GNSS-Tenex Contract on the terms offered by GNSS, and that GNSS
avoided any negotiation of the draft and no such talks ever took place.

e Mr. Griogriev testified, as a witness under questioning by the General
Prosecutor’s office (Exhibit 366 page 4). He said, inter alia, that: “Stan-
dard contract approval procedure in the departments of “Techsnabexport”
was not followed, which was explained by the fact that some of those dis-
agreed with the offered draft, and the time span given to analyse it was

short. 1 reported it o Techsnabexport’s Director General Mr. Fraishiut
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that there was no copy of the contract with signatures of approval from all
concerned depariments ...

We failed 10 negotiate with Mr. Chernov 1o the point of the new draft con-
tract as he alleged meetings at the Ministry of Aiomic Energy and was
physically unavailable until the day the contract was signed, Standard con-
tract approval procedure in departments of “Techsnabexport™ was not fol-
lowed, which was explained by the fact that some of those disagreed with
the offered drafl, and the time span given to analyse it was short.”

Mr. Aboimiov testified as a witness under questioning by the General
Prosecuior’s Office (Exhibit 363, page 4), inier alia, that: "The conditions
offered...the contracted price was fixed between GNSS and OAO
"Techsnabexort” and did not depend on the price received by GNSS from
end users. These were the very conditions opposed by Uranservice. Mr.
Fraishiut appended his instruction on the document to have suggestions io
GNSS drafi coniract. Carrying out this instruction, Uranservice and the
Strategic Analysis and Marketing Department started to work out their
suggestions. At the same time attempts were made to negotiate with Mr.
Chernov to discuss the drafl. Such negotiations did not take place for rea-
sons that are unknown to me.”

Before this Tribunal Mr. Aboimov testified on 3™ April 2006 and said
(Transcript Page 73), inter alia, that: “So according to this obligatory pro-
cedure I disiributed the project, the draft contract to the heads of units,
and one or two days later I received their replies. None of the respective
uhils agreed either to the concept or the mechanism, or 10 the commercial
provisions of the drafi contract. --There are special sirong objections
raised by my unit and its director, Mr. Mikerin, and then another unit
which was responsible for price seiting and for strategy headed by Boris
Gvodzev—On the basis of the position of these units I proposed 10 Mr.
Chernov 1o have negotiations on the contract, but he was too busy, he had
meetings scheduled with Minatom, including the then minister Adamov.
However, I was able to present to Mr. Chernov the position of the manag-
ers of Technsnabexport with respect to the unacceptability of this contract
and its concept. - Mr. Chernov listened to my proposals, and he suggesied

making some adjustments or amendments in the draft, which I did on my
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computer, mainly directing the clerical errors or the misprints. He also
asked me to print out several copies of the draft contract and the letters, 1
saw that he (vok the copies and went to the office of Mr. Fraishiut the Gen-
eral Director of Techsnabexport. Since my office was situated nexi to Mr.
Fraishtut's office, I also saw that the deputy director, Mr. Grigoriev, soon
wenl (o Mr. Fraishiut’s office as well. So this was on or around 317 of
Junuary, probubly on the 30" January,- A short time after Mr. Chernov
came 1o me and presented a signed copy of the contract, [ saw there was
the signature of Mr. Pismenny, the Chairman of the Board of Directors — I
should probably add that I saw My, Pismenny in Moscow at that time, and,
on the part of Techsnabexport, the signature of Mr. Fraishiui and Mr.
Grigariev.

Mr, Vadim Merkin, who at that time was a deputy Director of Tenex’s
commercial division (the firm Uranservice), testified as a witness under
questioning by the General Prosecutor’s Office on 8" February 2006 {Ex-
hibit 367, pages 3-4), inter alia, that: the drafi contract was prepared and
sent (o Techsnabexport personally by GNSS's president Chernov in the
Jirst days of 2000... A that stage, we — I personaily — had reason fo believe
that the conditions set forth in the draft contract did not suit the interests of
either Techsnabexport or the Russian side in general, because the price
mechanism, the general terms of the contract, and the obligations of GNSS
with regard lo the execution of the terms of the contract were drawn up
such ithat they clearly reflected the interests of GNSS only, and not
Techsnabexport. We felt that it was possible to negotiate, given that il was
our company, and 1o convince Chernov of the need 10 adopt terms for the
drafi contract that were more suitable. Since the contract involved supply
af the natural component under a long-term mechanism all the way to the
end of the HEU-LEU Agreement, careful analysis was required, as was a
thorough study of the draflt that involved enlisting several functional subdi-
visions of the company that were responsible for price-seiting policy and

mulual settlements.”
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On 20" December 1999, ie. shortly before the GNSS-Tenex Coniract was con-
cluded the Shareholders’ Meeting of GNSS approved a provision in the Charter for

GNBSE 1o the effect that Resolutions of the Board of directors are adopted by a ma-

Jority of the votes of the voting members under the condition that there is the ap-

proval of at least one member of Russian citizenship (and not two members of Rus-
sian citizenship as recommended by Tenex’s lawyers), This decision was made fol-
lowing a Meeting of the Board of Directors of 3 September 1999 at which Pis-
menny took the position that “it is superfluous to have two Russian votes. This re-
quiremeni might paralyze the decision making process.” Fraishtut, who was present

at the meeting did not object to that (Exhibits 271-275),

. On the evidence before the Tribunal we conclude (§123) that standard contract ap-

proval procedure in Tenex was not followed when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was
concluded and no reason has been shown why it would have been in the interest of
Tenex to replace the 1996 Contract with the GNSS-Tenex Contract as presented by
(GNSS.

. Tenex contend that the only reason why Tenex concluded the GNSS-Tenex Con-

tract was that, when the Contract was concluded, i.e. in January 2000, everyone at
Tenex, except those who were members of the Group, believed that GNSS was a
company fully owned by the Russian state (through TKST and Tenex) and con-
trolled by Tenex and/or Minatom. In this context Tenex also points out that, shortly
before the conclusion of the GNSS-Tenex Contract, on 20™ December 1999, 62 %
of the shares in GNSS were re-registered in the name of TKST, a company owned

by TRINITI and portrayed as acting in Tenex’s interests.

. Moreover, Tenex contend that because the Group portraved and Tenex treated

GNSS as a company owned and controlled by Tenex and Minatom (which implied
that Tenex could direct GNSS’s actions), negotiation and agreeing of all specific
terms and conditions of the GNSS-Tenex Contract had not become a matter of par-
ticular concern for Tenex at the time when the GNSS-Tenex contract was signed.

Above (supra $112) we have found that the oniy plausible reason why Tenex would

have an interest to take action and assist TK.ST to acquire the shares in GNSS, and
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for Tenex’s owner, the Russian state, to accept it would have been the understand-
ing that TKST was controlled by the Russian state and that the transfer of Nuexco’s
49 % of the shares in GNSS to TKST was a method for Tenex to get conirol of the
shares. We have thus agreed with Tenex’s contention ihar TKST was treated by
everyone as a company ultimately owned by the state and acting in Tenex’s inter-
ests, and that therefore the shares in GNSS were transferred to TKST and that
Tenex actively assisted TKST to get the shares, and thar everyone at Tenex, except
those who were members of the Group, believed that TKST would purchase and
hold the 49 % of shares in GNSS in the interests of Tenex.

We have further found (supra 9116) that the only plausible explanation for the debt
release was the image of TKST as a Tenex-friendly company controlled by
TRINITL, which would transter the shares to Tenex upon the latter’s request.

It 1s plain from the evidence before as that TKST was not a company acting in the
interests of Tenex or the Russian state. As shown by written evidence before us (Ex-
hibit 240) TKST and its President, Akimenko were closely associated with Texi, a
company incorporated in 1991 in Delaware (Exhibits 247- 248). Akimenko was
President of Texi (Exhibit 249). Texi was owned by Pismenny, Pismenny’s wife

Sekolina and Pismenny’s daughter Tatiana Simeonova (Exhibit 250).

. A drall Joint Venture Agreement of November 1998, secured from Kaushansky’s

computer files (Exhibits 241-243), provides, inter alia, that [Texi] and [Omekal
“have formed a joint venture to bid and if they are successful, to acquire 49% of

[GNSS] from the bankrupicy authorities...”

I According to the draft JVA, TKST was used as an agent of Texi and Omeka for the

purposes of acquiring the 49% of shares in GNSS

“Whereas TKST has acted as an agent for the bidders and has bid in its
own name for the 49% of the outstanding stock of [GNSS] on behalf of
the joint venture ... (Recitals).

“Upon accepiance of [TKST s bid ..., norwithstanding the fact that 49
% of the shares shall be held by TKST as the agent for Omeka and Texi
in equal proportions of 24 1/2% each (Clause 1)...

. Omeka was incorporated in Pennsylvania in August 1994 (Exhibit 44). Omeka’s

sharcholders were Adamov (600 shares), Adamov’s wife Olga Pintchouk
(200 shares), Kaushansky (100 shares) and Kaushansky’s wife Lyuba Kaushansky
(100 shares) (Exhibits 53-59).



134. On 10™ April 2000, TKST’s 62 % of the shares were transferred from TKST to

l'exi. As can be seen from Texi’s confirmation and from the written consent of the
Board of Directors of the TKST, both dated 4™ April 2000, Pismenny, acting as
Texi’s representative (Exhibit 256), and Pismenny and Akimenko acting, as
IKST's directors (Exhibit 234), approved this transfer on the part of TKST. Texi,
unltke TKST, was a private company controlled by Pismenny, and had no connec-
tion with TRINITIL. Shortly after TKST transferred its 62 % of the shares in GNSS
10 Texi and the Release and Waiver Agreement was signed, GNSS started to pay
dividends to Texi, which shortly thereafler started to pay significant amounts to Pis-

menny and his wife Sokolina (Exhibits 24-25 and 240),

. There can thus be no doubt that TKST did not act in the interest of Tenex or Mina-

tom and did not purchase and acquire the 62 % of the shares in GNSS for and in the

interest of Tenex or the Russian Federation.

. GNSS has not shown or even alleged that anyone else than the members of the

Group were aware of the fact that TKST was not a company acting in Tenex’s in-
terest. At the time when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded, Pismenny and
Adamov were aware not only of the fact, that TKST did not act in Tenex’s interest,

FTVLT LY

but also that there was an arrangement (JVA) for transferring by TKST of 62 % of

a2

the shares in GNSS to private companies controlied by Pismenny and Adamov and

owned by them and members of their families.

4.4.3.6 The Tribunal’s conclusions

{37 We have now in the light of the Tribunal’s findings to consider (a) whether the cir-

cumstances, in which the GNSS-Tenex Contract was made, were such that having
knowledge of such circumstances, it would be inequitable to enforce the GNSS-
Tenex Contract and (b) whether GNSS must be presumed to have had such knowl-

edge when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded.

. We have found that nobody in Tenex or Minatom, except the members of the

Group, was aware of the fact that TKST, which owned 62 % of the shares in GNSS,
was not acting in Tenex’s interest. Does this fact justify the conclusion that the c¢ir-
cumstances in which the GNSS-Tenex Contract was made were such that, having

knowledge of them when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded, it would be in-
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equitable to enforee that contract and that therefore GNSS may not rely on the Con-

tract?

. First, the evidence submitted clearly demonstrate that, when the GNSS-Tenex Con-

tract was concluded, there were circumstances affecting Tenex’s interesis and per-
spectives 1n a cerfain area of its economic activities, including its rights to shares
and dividends and the marketing and pricing of the goods supplied by Tenex.
Among other things the GNSS-Tenex Contract itself was less advantageous for
Tenex than the 1996 Contract. No plausible reason has been shown because of
which it could have been in the interests of Tenex to replace the 1996 Contract with
the GNSS-Tenex Contract. We therefore conclude, as asserted by Tenex, that the
only reason why Tenex concluded the GNSS-Tenex Contract was that Tenex be-
lieved that GNSS was a company fully owned by the Russian state (through TKST

and Tenex) and controlied by Tenex and/or Minatom.

). Second, 1t is plain that GNSS was aware of all the above mentioned circumstances

in which the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded. Moreover, as a matter of fact,
its officers played an active role in creating such circumstances with their negative

effect to Tenex as a legal entity.

1. On these findings we conclude that the circumstances in which the GNSS-Tenex

Contract was made were such that, having knowledge of those circumstances, it
would be inequitable to enforce the GNSS-Tenex Contract. Since GNSS was aware
of these circumstances when the GNSS-Tenex Contract was concluded, GNSS may
not rely on that Contract. GNSS’s claim for damages because of breach of contract
is therefore not made out.

We observe in passing, that given our findings we have not needed to consider
GNSS’s request to confirm that the GNSS-Tenex Contract was avoided effective 5
November 2004 or any quantum issues, including the qualification of the Contract.
Neither have we needed to consider Tenex’s arguments that the GNSS-Tenex Con-
tract 1s invalid by virtue of the Swedish law principle of underlying assumptions, or
because of the fact that it violates law or is contrary to good practice (pactum

turpe), Or as a matter of international public policy.
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Both parties have made written submissions to us on the issue of costs. There is no
agreement between the parties relating to costs. Therefore, the Arbitral Tribunal
may pursuant to Article 41 of the SCC Arbitration Rules, at the request of a party,
in an Award or other order by which the arbitral proceedings are terminated order
the losing party to compensate the other party for legal representation and other ex-
penses for presenting its case. Each party has claimed that the other party shall com-
pensate all its cost for legal representation and other expenses for presenting its
case. However, the Tribunal can also take into account other circumstances, e.g.

procedural orders and partial awards,

L GNSS claim that the Tribunal order Tenex to compensate GNSS for its legal repre-

sentation and other expenses for presenting its case in the amount of USD
5,545,229,02 plus interest according 1o Sections 4 and 6 of the Swedish Interest Act
from the date of this award until the date of full payment. Tenex claim that the Tri-
bunal order GNSS to compensate Tenex for its legal representation and other ex-
penses for presenting its case in the amount of USD 7,566,298,53 and EUR
1,229,857 81 with interest at a rate corresponding to the Swedish official reference
raic plus eight per cent per annum, from the date of this award until the date of full
payment. Both parties have by fetters dated 15 February 2007 informed the Tribunal

that they do not accept the amounts the other party has claimed.

. The Tribunal has discretion to fix the amount it considers proportionate and reason-

able. Applying these criteria and having regard to the outcome of the case, the par-
tial award dated 31"
August 2004, 4™ April 2005 and 5" July 2005, the Tribuna! awards that GNSS shall

reimburse Tenex in the amount of USD 5,000,000 and EUR 800,000 with interest

August 2006 and the procedural orders and decisions dated 31

corresponding to the Swedish official reference rate plus eight percent per annum
from the date of this Award until full payment.
The costs of the arbitration have been determined by the Arbitration Institute of the

Stockholm Chamber of Commerce as follows:
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Professor Ailan Philip
Fee EUR 10,000
Expenses EUR 736

Justice Gustaf Moller
Fee EUR 333,200
Expenses EUR 54,455

Advokat Karl-Erik Danielsson
Fee EUR 205,920 and VAT 25%
Expenses SEK 34,215

Professor Sergei N. Lebedev
Fee EUR 205,920
Expenses EUR 13,273

SCC Institute

Administrative fee EUR 66,000

5AWARD

t'or the reasons set out above, the Tribunal decides as follows:

I

fad

Al GONSS’s claims are dismissed.

GNSS is ordered to pay Tenex forthwith compensation for its legal representation and
other expenses for presenting its case USD 5,000,000 and EUR 800,000 with interest
corresponding to the Swedish official reference rate plus eight percent per annum from
the date of this Award until full payment, i.e. at an annual rate calculated in accordance
with Section 6 of the Swedish Interest Act as from the date of the Award until the date of
full payment.

The partics are jointly and severally liable to pay the costs of the arbitration as specified

above at 9146, As between the parties 2/3 of these costs shall be borne by GNSS and 1/3
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by Tenex. The costs wiil be drawn from the advances paid by the parties to the SCC In-

stifute,

In case the competent tax authorities require that VAT or additional VAT shall be paid on the
compensation: paid to the arbitrators, the parties are further jointly and severally ordered to

pay fo the respective arbitrator as compensation an amount corresponding to the required
VAT,

$S1ockholm 11" June 2007
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(Drissenting)
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APPICLILILA 1

Dissenting Opinion (relating to the reasons)

The Arbitrator Mr. Karl-Erik Danielsson makes the following considerations.

I 'am in agreement with the majority in respect of the questions of the arbitrability of the
present dispute, GNSS’s standing in this arbitration, and the jurisdiction of the Tribunal in
respect of purported criminal matters.  also agree with the majority that the GNSS-Tenex
Contract 1s not invalid due to fraudulent deception pursuant 1o Section 30 of the Swedish
Contracts Act (SFS 1915:218) (the “Aet”). However, in respect of the question of whether
the GNSK-Tenex Centract is invalid pursuant to Section 33 of the Act, I have a dissenting

apinton as set forth below.

fhe natural starting point for an analysis of whether the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid
pursuant to Section 33 of the Act is the provision itself. The provision has the following

wording in its English translation.

“A legal act which would otherwise be deemed valid may not be relied upon
where the circumstances in which it arose were such that, having knowledge of
such circumstances, it would be inequitable to enforce the legal act, and where the
party in respect of whom such legal act was performed must be presumed to have
had such knowledge.”
e provision set forth in Section 33 of the Act is a general clause. Nonetheless, it contains
important limitations. For instance, just as the provision set forth in Section 30 of the Act,
the provision exclusively addresses the circumstances in which the lepal act arose, and it

only concerns the relationship between the parties.’

in order for Section 33 of the Act to apply, both an objective and a subjective requirement
must be tulfilled. As regards the objective requirement, certain circumstances must be
present when the [egal act arose. However, such circumstances have not been defined

otherwise than that, having knowledge of them, it would be inequitable to enforce the legal

Sev Adlercreutz, Avtalsran 1, 12 ed., 2002, p. 269,
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act. Further, as regards the subjective requirement, the other party must be presumed to
have had knowledge of these circumstances at the time when he learned of the legal act. In
the event that the other party has no knowledge of the circumstances, the conduct cannot
be deemed inequitable. However, there is no requirement that the other party has regarded
his conduct as being inequitable. The question of whether the conduct is inequitable is to

be determined objectively; ultimately by a court or an arbitral tribunal.”

As a result of the vague wording of the provision, Section 33 of the Act has a wide range
ol applicability. According to its wording, it also encompasses situations covered by the
other, more specific, grounds for invalidity set forth in Chapter 3 of the Act. In the fravaux
préparatoires, it has been stated that the provision has a subsidiary character in relation to
such other grounds for invalidity.” Thus, Section 33 of the Act can be characterised as lex
generalis in relation to more specific grounds for invalidity set forth in either Chapter 3 of

the Act or in other legisiation.

in the iravaux préparatoires, iwo main categories of situations in which Section 33 of the
Act may be applied have been outlined. First, Section 33 of the Act applies to situations
where the person carrying out the legal act has been influenced by circumstances which
have incapacitated him from forming a clear opinion of the meaning and consequences of
the legal act, /.e., mainly milder forms of mental defects. Second, the provision applies to
situations where the other party, without having fraudulently deceived the party into
carrying out the legal act, in an inequitable manner has taken advantage of the party’s lack

of knowledge of certain factual circumstances.*

Casc law in relation to Section 33 of the Act has confirmed the view thus advocated in the
rravaux préparatoires. The provision has especially been applied as a supplement to the
provision set forth in Section 30 of the Act regarding fraudulent deception. However,

Section 33 of the Act does not cover all types of so-called undue influence. Moreover, it is

" See Adlercreutz op.cit. p. 269 ef seq.

" See Forsiap till lag om avial och andra rittshandlingar pd formbgenhetsriittens omrade, lag om avbetal-
ningskdp t.m,, avgivoa den 31 Januari 1914 av dartill utsedda kommitterade, p. 133,

' See Forstag till lag om avtal och andra rittshandlingar p4 formagenhetsrittens omrade, lag om avbetal-
ningskoép m.m., avgivna den 31 januari 1914 av dirtili utsedda kommitterade, p. 134 ef seq.
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specifically worth noting that Section 33 of the Act has been applied in a rather restricted
number of cases. On the whole, Swedish courts, particularly in recent years, have set the
reguirements high for invalidity and other types of interference in contractual

: LS
relationships.

Due to the manner in which Tenex has chosen to present its case, it 1s against the above
legal background that the merits of the case are to be considered. However, in my opinion,
the facts regarding the conclusion of the GNSS-Tenex Contract, as alleged by Tenex,
instead give rise to legal issues of a kind which, under Swedish law, typically are dealt
with in company faw. in particular, such issues are addressed by the principles on ulire
vires acts now contained in the provisions set forth in Chapter 8, Section 42 of the Swedish
Companies Act (SFS 2005:551). In the event that a company representative has performed
a legal act on behalf of the company and thereupon acted in violation of the provisions of
the Swedish Companies Act regarding the authority of company organs, such legal act is

not enforceable against the company and is, thus, invalid.

In the fravaux préparatoires, i has been argued that legal acts in contravention of the
provisions set forth in the Swedish Penal Code in certain cases constitute ulrra vires acts.®
My view is also that there are strong arguments why Mr, Fraishtut’s alleged conduct -
without ruling on whether or not Tenex has fuifilled its burden of proof in this respect -
would, under Swedish law, constitute the crime breach of faith commiited by an agent
aguinst his principal (Swedish troldshet mot huvudman) (see Chapter 10, Section 5 of the

swedish Penal Code). However, | see no reason to further elaborate on this issue.

The provisions on ultra vires acts set forth in Chapter 8, Section 42 of the Swedish
Companies Act are applicable only to Swedish companies. On the other hand, Tenex has
net challenged the GNSS-Tenex Contract based on an allegation that the persons signing

the GNSS-Tenex Contract on behalf of Tenex, i.e., Mr. Fraishtut and Mr, Grigoriev, in any

way exceeded their authority. Nor has any evidence in respect of the contents of Russian

" See Adlercreutz op.eir. p. 272 et seq.
" See Government Bill 1993/94:196 p. 169, See also Johansson, Nials Svensk associationsratt i huvuddrag,
§ed.. 2001, p. 246,
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law, which is Tenex’s lex corporationis, in this matter been presented. Consequently, the
Tribunal is prevented from examining whether the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid due to

principies on ultra vires acts, whether under Swedish faw or Russian law,

The question is then whether Section 33 of the Act can be applied to the facts regarding the
conclusion of the GNSS-Tenex Contract, notwithstanding that the provisions regarding
wlira vires acts would be applicable had Tenex been a Swedish company. This issue has
been addressed in the travaux préparatoires, where it has been asserted that the fact that

a company 1s bound by a legal act according to the company law principles on ulira vires
acts does not necessarily imply that the legal act at all times is binding on the company.
Particularly in situations where the other party has been aware that a company
representative has exceeded his authority or violated the provision regarding the objects of
the company set {orth in the articles of association there probably is some room for the
company to avoid being bound with reference to the provisions regarding invaiidity

contained in the Act, principally Sections 33 and 36.

Thus, even though, theoreticaily, Section 33 of the Act might be applied alongside the
principles on wltra vires acts now contained in the provisions set forth in Chapter 8,
Section 42 of the Swedish Companies Act, the Swedish legislator has intended that this be
the case only very rarely. This is also evidenced by the fact that I have not found any
published case law where Section 33 of the Act has been applied in such situations. Add to
that the fact that Swedish courts in general are extremely reluctant to invalidate confractual
relationships, my overall conclusion is that there are not sufficient conditions to declare the

(GONSS-Tenex Contract invalid pursuant to Section 33 of the Act.

In addition, Tenex has asserted that the GNSS-Tenex Contract is invalid on the basis of the
principle of underlying assumptions (Swedish férutsditningsldrany and the principle that
agreements that violate the law or are contrary to good practice, both of which are general
Swedish contract law principles, though seldom applied by Swedish courts. In my view,

the circumstances in the case are not such that either of these principles can be applied to

*See Government Bill 1993/94:196 p. 171
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invalidate the GNSS-Tenex Contract. Nor can this be achieved by Tenex’s reference 1o

international public policy.

In light of the above, 1 find that the GNSS-Tenex Contract cannot be declared invalid or
unenforceable on the basis of any of the grounds alleged by Tenex. Having also regard to
the ruling of the Tribunal in its partial award rendered on 31 August 2006, I conclude that
the purported termination by Tenex of the GNSS-Tenex Contract on 3 November 2003
was unlawful and that, therefore, Tenex as a result of this breach of agreement is Hable to

pay compensation to GNSS for damage incurred by GNSS.

The guestion is then what damage GNSS has incurred as a result of Tenex’s breach of
agreement. In this respect, GNSS has asserted that, pursuant to Article 76 of the United
Nations Convention on Contracts for the international Sale of Goods ("CISG™), GNSS,
having avoided the GNSS-Tenex Contract, may “recover the difference between the price
fixed by the contract and the current price at the time of avoidance as well as any further
damages recoverable under Article 74.” The amount of damages sought has also been
calculated according to Article 76 of the CISG. In addition, GNSS has claimed further
damages under Article 74 of the CISG if damages based on Article 76 of the CISG are
awarded for only part of the Total Quota Quantity.

In my view, both damages calculations invoked by GNSS presuppose the breach of a sale
of goods contract. Tenex has disagreed that the GNSS-Tenex Contract is a sale of goods
contract, and has claimed that the GNS8-Tenex Contract merely indicates the conditions
on which sale of UF¢ Feed Component may take place if certain requirements are met.
Therefore, it is a matter of decisive importance to establish whether the GNSS-Tenex
Contract itself constitutes a binding contract for the sale of goods. The natural starting
pomnt for this analysis is the wording of the provisions of the GNSS-Tenex Contract, and
the question to be answered is whether the GNSS-Tenex Contract itself contains binding

purchase and sale transactions.

Provisions regarding quantities, quota, deliveries and term are contained in Article II of the

GNSS-Tenex Contract as amended by GNS3-Tenex Contract Amendment 4. In this
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context, Section 2.01(i) of the GNSS-Tenex Centract should first be noted, The provision

has the following wording.

“Within the term of this Contract GNSS shall be exclusively entitled to purchase
from {Tenex] [UFs Feed Component] in annual amounts, equal to the maximum
guantity, which [Tenex] is eligible to retain, market and sell to GNSS under the
Western Contract {(the “Total Available Quantity”), which includes: — -~
Thus, under Section 2.01(1) of the GNSS-Tenex Contract, Tenex grants an exclusive right
10 GNSS (o purchase UF, Feed Component from Tenex. However, the provision does not
impose an obligation on Tenex to sell certain fixed quantities of UFs Feed Component to
(GNBS. Nor does it impose an obligation on GNSS to purchase certain fixed quantities of

UF, Feed Component from Tenex.

A provision imposing an obligation on GNSS is instead set forth in Section 2.01(iv) of the
GNSS-Tenex Contract which provides that “[sjubject to Sections 1.01 and 2.03(vi) of this
Contract, the annual Quota Quantily represents the minimum annual purchase obligation of
GINSS under this Contract.” Further, by Section | of GNS5-Tenex Contract Amendment 4,
(GNSS commits to purchase certain larger quantities which, inter alia, results in GNSS
being obligated to purchase the entire Quota Quantity under Section 2.01(i)(a) of the
GNSS-Tenex Contract beginning with calendar year 2002, and each year thereafter during
the remaining life of the GNSS-Tenex Contract. There is, however, no corresponding
express undertaking by Tenex, either in the GNSS-Tenex Contract or in GNSS-Tenex
Contract Amendment 4, to sell any quantities of UF¢ Feed Component to GNSS. In my
opinion, this clearly indicates that the GNSS-Tenex Contract (as amended) does not itself’
impose an obligation on Tenex to sell UFg Feed Component to GNSS, or, expressed

differently, contain a binding sale transaction.

When determining whether the GNSS-Tenex Contract itself contains binding purchase and
sale transactions the provision set forth in Section 2.03(11i) of the GNS8S-Tenex Contract

should also be taken into account. The provision has the foliowing wording.

“IFor each delivery to its customer, GNSS shall specify the quaniity and delivery
dae by written notice (the “Delivery Order”) to [Tenex] given as soon as possible,
but at least 90 days prior to the delivery date designated in such notice. — — —



Delivery of the Delivery Order to [Tenex] by GNSS shall result in a binding
contract of purchase and sale for the quantity of {UFs Feed Component] therein
stipulated on the terms and conditions of this Contract. [Tenex] shall acknowledge
receipt of each Delivery Order it receives by signing and returning a copy thereof
to GNSS, However, failure to do so by Tenex shall not invalidate the Delivery
Order, —— -7
As is apparent from this provision, the GNSS-Tenex Contract contains a specific
mechanism for determining when sale of goods contracts come into effect, i.e., by the
delivery of a Delivery Order to Tenex by GNSS. Only then is Tenex under an obligation to
sel} UF, Feed Component to GNSS. The existence of the provision clearly contradicts the
interpretation that the GNSS-Tenex Contract itself constitutes a binding contract for the
sale of goods. Instead, it is plain that the parties have intended to lay down cerfain
conditions for binding purchase and sale fransactions. Further, it is worth noting that the
provision set forth in Section 2,03(iil) of the GNSS-Tenex Contract has not been altered by
(iINSS-Tenex Contract Amendment 4 which in Section 1 provides that “GNSS shall

continue 1o provide the Delivery Orders for each delivery of the Quota Quantity under

Section 2.03(111) of the Contract”.

Against the above background, | conclude that the GNSS-Tenex Contract itself cannot be
said 1o constitute a binding contract for the sale of goods. In support of its ctaims, GN&S

has, as stated above, only invoked damages calculations which presuppose the breach of

a sale of goods contract. Therefore, | am prevented from examining whether GNSS is

entitled to compensation from Tenex based on alternative damages calculations.

Thus, my overall conclusion is that GNSS action is unfounded. Consequently, I am in
agreement with the majority that all GNSS claims should be dismissed. I also agree with

the majority in respect of the cost issues.
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